Developing a Green Lab Certification for a Research-Intensive University

by Sally Albright

A THESIS

submitted to

Oregon State University

Honors College

in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degrees of

Honors Baccalaureate of Science Environmental Sciences & Honors Baccalaureate of Science Earth Science: Ocean Science Option (Honors Scholar)

Presented November 20, 2019 Commencement June 2020

AN ABSTRACT OF THE THESIS OF

Sally Albright for the degree of <u>Honors Baccalaureate of Science in Environmental</u> <u>Sciences & Honors Baccalaureate of Science in Earth Science: Ocean Science option</u> presented on November 20, 2019. Title: <u>Developing a Green Lab Certification for a</u> <u>Research-Intensive University.</u>

Abstract approved: _____

Laurence C. Becker

Oregon State laboratories are responsible for a significant portion of the university's overall resource and energy consumption, and therefore minimizing waste in a sustainable way should be a top priority for the university while aiming for carbon neutrality by 2025. This study addresses major factors that should be considered when implementing an effective Green Lab Certification program for a research-intensive university, specifically Oregon State University. Encouraging and normalizing pro-environmental behavior in labs is crucial to maintaining waste minimizing techniques in these workspaces. Accomplishing this in the form of a certification program maintains accountability, establishes a definition and standard of sustainability in the context of labs, and facilitates a network of support that ensures stability of the program over time. The OSU Green Lab Certification program centers around a comprehensive survey that assesses sustainable practices in six (6) categories - energy conservation, water conservation, waste management, lab purchasing, transportation, and education & engagement. Four (4) labs from the representative College of Earth, Ocean, and Atmospheric Sciences participated in the development and testing of the OSU Green Lab Certification survey prior to

university-wide implementation. Upon completion of the survey, each lab earned a score that correlated to a certification level – no certification (0-49%), Copper (50-59%), Silver (60-69%), Gold (70-79%), or Platinum (80-100%). Each lab also received specific feedback regarding improvements that could be made in order to proceed to a higher certification level in the future. Involving OSU labs in the development, amendment, and testing of the Green Lab Certification survey ensured that this program was clear, concise, applicable, and effective. The OSU Sustainability Office plans to implement this Green Lab Certification program university-wide in Winter of 2020 via Qualtrics, a program regularly used by the university for official surveys.

Key Words: Sustainability, Laboratories, Green, Universities, Certification, Research Corresponding e-mail address: albrighs@oregonstate.edu ©Copyright by Sally Albright November 20, 2019 All Rights Reserved

Developing a Green Lab Certification for a Research-Intensive University

by Sally Albright

A THESIS

submitted to

Oregon State University

Honors College

in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degrees of

Honors Baccalaureate of Science Environmental Sciences & Honors Baccalaureate of Science Earth Science: Ocean Science Option (Honors Scholar)

Presented November 20, 2019 Commencement June 2020 Honors Baccalaureate of Science in Environmental Sciences & Honors Baccalaureate of Science in Earth Science: Ocean Science Option project of Sally Albright presented on November 20, 2019.

APPROVED:

Laurence C. Becker, Mentor, representing the College of Earth, Ocean, and Atmospheric Sciences

Rick Colwell, Committee Member, representing the College of Earth, Ocean, and Atmospheric Sciences

Brandon Trelstad, Committee Member, representing the OSU Sustainability Office

Toni Doolen, Dean, Oregon State University Honors College

I understand that my project will become part of the permanent collection of Oregon State University, Honors College. My signature below authorizes release of my project to any reader upon request.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

I.	Acknowledgements	1
II.	Introduction	2
III.	Minimizing Waste in Labs	5
IV.	Encouraging Pro-Environmental Behavior	7
V.	Why Certification?	10
VI.	Green Lab Certification Methodology	12
	A. Survey DevelopmentB. Amendment and Testing	
VII.	Survey Results	18
VIII.	Discussion	20
IX.	Conclusion	23
X.	Appendix	25
	A. The OSU Green Lab Certification Survey	25
	B. The OSU Green Lab Certification Scoring Guidelines	
XI.	References	43

I. ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I'd like to sincerely thank my thesis mentor, Dr. Laurence Becker, for his unwavering support and inspiration not only throughout this project, but also throughout my entire college career. Thank you as well to Mr. Brandon Trelstad from the OSU Sustainability Office for his support as a member of my thesis committee, as well as for bringing the lack and need of a GLC for Oregon State University to my attention. Thank you to Dr. Rick Colwell for his consistent positivity and encouragement as a member of my thesis committee, his insight into the workings of laboratories at Oregon State University, and his passion for sustainability in higher education institutions such as OSU. Thank you to Mr. Silas Fisher, Ms. Amira Smith, and others working at the OSU Sustainability Office for their support towards the development, implementation, and maintenance of the OSU Green Lab Certification program. Thank you to the faculty of the College of Earth, Ocean, Atmospheric Sciences, specifically Ms. Dawn-Marie Gaid, Mr. Casey Menn, Ms. Mary Chuinard, and Ms. Erin Lieuallen for your support, both personal and professional, throughout my undergraduate education at Oregon State University. And finally, thank you to my wonderful friends and family for their unconditional love and encouragement over the years.

II. INTRODUCTION

Higher education institutions both within the United States and internationally have recently recognized the need for sustainable practices in their laboratories. According to the Association for the Advancement of Sustainability in Higher Education (AASHE), hundreds of universities have made commitments on minimizing energy use and greenhouse gas production since the organization began in 2006 (Bridgestock, 2012). Since no two universities are alike, it is important to identify components that contribute most significantly to each university's overall carbon footprint in order to meet these commitments. In a large, research-intensive university, laboratory-related work contributes significantly to overall waste and resource consumption for the university. Oregon State University (OSU) is the largest public research university in Oregon, and one of only two universities in the United States with Land-, Sea-, Space-, and Sun-Grant designations as of 2019 (OSU Research Office, 2019). With eleven (11) academic colleges at Oregon State University, research is an integral component of this university and most of these academic colleges. In 2019 alone, the university received a total of over \$400 million in competitive research grant funding and an overall funding increase of 15 percent (OSU Research Office, 2019). Laboratories typically consume anywhere from five (5) to ten (10) times as much energy per square foot as typical office spaces of similar size (PG&E, 2011). Laboratory work is an integral part of the OSU community, as well as a significant component of the university's carbon footprint.

In 2007, Oregon State University President Ed Ray signed the American College and University Presidents Climate Commitment (ACUPCC), an effort to address climate change by creating a network of universities and colleges committed to neutralizing greenhouse gas emissions and encourage pro-environmental behavior on campus (Second Nature, 2007). One of the requirements of this commitment was to "take immediate interim steps to reduce campus greenhouse gas emissions... and reach carbon neutrality by 2025," (Smith & Trelstad, 2009). The first sustainability report for Oregon State University was published in 2009 by the OSU Sustainability Office, and since then a report has been issued on an annual basis assessing the progression of OSU toward the 2025 goal (AASHE, 2019).

Since 2011, sustainability assessment for the overall university has been conducted via the Sustainability Tracking, Assessment, & Rating System (STARS), a program of the Association for the Advancement of Sustainability in Higher Education. AASHE is an organization that encourages sustainable practices in higher education institutions. Its STARS program encourages pro-environmental and waste minimizing behaviors in universities through a self-reporting framework that measures sustainability performance (AASHE, 2019). Once the college submits its report, this program assigns a rating, in order of lowest to highest, of either no rating, Bronze, Silver, or Gold. Within each rating, a number value out of 100 is given so the institution can see exactly where it lost points and how to improve in the future. As of 2019, 971 institutions have registered to use the STARS reporting tool and of these institutions, 662 are AASHE members that must renew this membership every three years. As of January 31, 2018, OSU received a Gold rating and scored 72.23 out of 100 points (AASHE, 2019). The results of the overall university assessment suggested that the university focus on energy efficiency, waste management, investment/divestment, and purchasing (AASHE, 2019). The STARS program has proven to be an effective tool for assessing pro-environmental behavior and efforts to minimize waste across the entire university.

As of 2019, the university was still not on track to reach the 2025 carbon neutrality goal, despite efforts to assess sustainability across the university and create resources that incite

positive change. According to Brandon Trelstad of the OSU Sustainability Office, one of the largest challenges faced by the university is the inability to develop a universal planning and implementation process that applies to all the colleges and offices across the university (Nelson, 2018). The OSU Sustainability Office advocates for individual departments and offices to develop their own strategic plans for reducing their carbon footprint. To follow this recommendation, the Sustainability Office decided to approach this challenge through methods that emphasized "bottom-up" solutions that address sustainability on campus as a sum of its parts. In other words, initiatives could likely be more successful if they were more catered to specific audiences and encouraged specific, actionable changes. As a result, the Office implemented the university's first ever Green Office Certification, which focuses on improving sustainability in individual offices and departments at OSU (OSU Sustainability Office, 2019). This certification process involves the use of a comprehensive online survey to assess the current state of office practices and is broken down into the following categories each with five (5) to fifteen (15) questions: energy, water, waste management, purchasing, transportation, and outreach/education. Since the Green Office Certification was implemented in 2017, ten (10) offices and/or departments have been certified and are being recognized for their efforts to improve sustainability in their workspaces. The Sustainability Office is aiming to increase coverage of sustainability initiatives across OSU's campus. This includes areas such as laboratories, residence halls, dining halls, and Greek life communities.

Given that organizations like Pacific Gas & Electric (2011) have identified labs as major contributors of waste and resource consumption relative to other workspaces, a sustainability initiative that focused primarily on pro-environmental behavior and waste minimization in OSU's labs was needed. The next step was to develop an effective approach to designing a

Green Labs program for Oregon State University. To accomplish the goal of waste minimization in OSU's labs, encouragement of lasting pro-environmental behaviors in laboratories would be necessary to sustain those techniques in waste minimization. In order to maintain accountability, allow for adaptability in the program, and maintain a standard of sustainability in laboratories, the program would be implemented via a certification program. The goal of this study was to determine which factors should be considered when developing a comprehensive and effective Green Lab Certification program for a research-intensive university, specifically Oregon State University.

III. MINIMIZING WASTE IN LABS

In this context, "waste" refers to unwanted or unusable excess that gets circulated back into the local ecosystem. Typical forms of waste produced in laboratories include hazardous liquid and solid waste, non-hazardous liquid and solid waste (including water), and energy waste. Proper waste management is essential to environmental and public health, especially in places that include many individuals and departments that contribute heavily to the overall waste stream, such as research-intensive universities. However, comprehensive waste management programs are among the greatest challenges to achieving sustainability on college campuses, including Oregon State University (Nelson, 2018). Since it is very challenging to create campuswide waste management systems that effectively serve workplaces of varying purpose, size, and output, an alternative approach would be to create programs that are catered to the needs of individual components of these institutions.

Laboratories are a viable and imperative target for waste minimization efforts as well as environmental education and engagement efforts in higher education institutions more so than other workplaces of comparable size. Labs in research-intensive universities are often major consumers of energy and materials for each university's overall waste stream. During the 2007-2008 academic year, the University of Northern British Columbia (UNBC) Prince George Campus, a small, research-intensive university, produced between 1.2 and 2.2 metric tons of waste per week, over 70% of which could have been diverted through waste minimization, recycling, and composting practices (Smyth et. al, 2010). A 2015 study published in *Nature* suggested that plastic waste from scientific research facilities accounted for 1.8 percent of total global plastic production, equivalent to that of 67 cruise ships per year (Urbina et. al, 2015). Labs contribute to a significant amount of resource use and waste production, and therefore require direct and immediate attention for sustainability-related endeavors at OSU.

In addition to the sheer volume of waste produced as a result of lab work, there is also a disconnect in collective environmental awareness in these workspaces that prevent sustainable minimization of waste. A survey was conducted at the Harvard School of Public Health to investigate issues regarding standards of high-performance laboratory design and maintenance, and the results highlighted that there was confusion around interpretations of sustainable lab guidelines and standards, and this confusion has direct financial, environmental, and human health consequences (Woolliams et al., 2005). The Green Lab Certification for OSU should include assessment and recommendations for improvement in both waste management and education/engagement to minimize confusion and increase inclusivity of the program.

The primary goal of the OSU Green Lab Certification program is to encourage lasting pro-environmental behaviors that maintain waste minimizing actions in laboratories within the university. Creating a universal system for certifying "green labs" is challenging because laboratories and universities employ different scientific equipment and techniques, different systems of waste management, and different environmental health and safety standards. Oregon State University's Environmental Health and Safety (EH&S) Department focuses on "...maintaining a safe and healthy university environment for staff, faculty, students, and visitors..." (EH&S, 2019). This department not only coordinates the management of various types of waste across the university, but also establishes and enforces regulatory health and safety requirements established locally and nationally. EH&S currently has a "Hazardous Materials Disposal Guide" and other related sources on how and where to properly dispose of various chemicals disposed of from labs. In addition to chemicals, EH&S also offers services for recycling specific products that are not regularly recyclable, such as pipette tip boxes, nonhazardous used latex gloves, Styrofoam coolers, and others. Although these services are invaluable in the way of university-wide laboratory waste management, they are not publicized or regularly utilized by the university's laboratories. Given the current strengths and weaknesses of OSU's existing waste management system, the Green Lab Certification for this university should include information and guidance about how to access such resources to familiarize lab members of the opportunity for pro-environmental behaviors and actions in the labs.

IV. ENCOURAGING PRO-ENVIRONMENTAL BEHAVIOR

Pro-environmental behaviors are defined as "behaviors that consciously seek to minimize the negative impact of one's actions on the natural and built world" and are often adopted in workplaces that prioritize development and maintenance of workplace sustainability programs (Loverock, 2012). These behaviors, typically inspired by environmental knowledge and awareness, vary significantly based on several demographic factors, including both internal and external influences. Women and young people, for example, tend to be stereotyped as environmentalists, excluding those who don't fit into those demographic groups from support and resources necessary to increase pro-environmental behavior and action (Barr, 2003). There are also certain workplace cultures that are more (or less) conducive to encouraging lasting proenvironmental behavior, especially regarding leadership and communal support (Blok et al., 2015). Understanding which factors most heavily influence pro-environmental behavior and behavioral change is crucial to developing a Green Lab Certification program that is effective and sustainable.

There are specific pro-environmental behaviors that are "normative" and accepted, however, some behaviors and actions are still rejected. For example, recycling has been very well-received by the public, partially because the infrastructure was embraced by politicians and businesses in a way that made it easy for people to participate (Goldman et. al, 2018). Waste reduction and minimization, however, are not quite as normative. A study published by researchers at the UK's Royal Geographical Society found that waste reduction behaviors show evidence of counter-productive stereotyping, specifically linking to age and gender (Barr, 2003). Waste minimization techniques and behaviors have been found to be closely linked to the limitations set on certain individuals in the workplace and household. Societally accepted stereotypes have isolated young people and women as the most environmentally active demographic groups, isolating those outside of these groups from support and resources to further their awareness and action in minimizing waste (Barr, 2003). Additionally, "waste reduction and minimization" is a poorly defined term in waste-related policy, and it has several alternative dimensions - recycling, minimization, and reuse of materials (Barr, 2003). Inclusivity is imperative when aiming to encourage pro-environmental behavior and excluding major groups from sustainability will only support polarization of the issue at hand.

The likelihood of observing pro-environmental behavior in the workplace has been found to be largely predictable. A 2010 study by Dr. Paul Maiteny of UK's Open University investigated the relationship between emotional engagement in promoting pro-environmental behavior change. Results suggested that emotional engagement includes (1) experiences that prompted an urge to reduce one's carbon footprint through lifestyle/behavior change, and (2) how those experiences relate to one's greater beliefs, meanings, and convictions (Maiteny, 2010). In encouraging pro-environmental behavior, it is crucial to foster some form of relationship between people and the environment through impactful experiences. Another study by Block et al. (2015), focusing primarily on pro-environmental behavior among university employees, found that the "theory of planned behavior" (connecting one's beliefs to their behavior) explains such behavior in the workplace and that these predictors of workplace behavior differ from that of a household. Specific techniques predicted to significantly impact pro-environmental behavior among university employees focus on leaders in the workplace (department heads, administrators, etc.) exhibiting exemplary behavior and supporting proenvironmental efforts in the workplace (Blok et al., 2015). In the Green Lab Certification, the survey is designed to be completed by those responsible for the laboratories in question.

A study focusing on the influence of green school certification on environmental literacy and behavior found that recycling was the primary pro-environmental behavior adopted by students, and the students overall did not connect their personal consumption with the environmental consequences of that consumption (Goldman et. al, 2018). Although recycling is a popular action, it is considered a "light green" action, or one that only addresses a portion of the waste-stream issue. Schools with the 'green school certification' were encouraged to advance to higher-level, upstream solutions for waste minimization and sustainable consumption. The

proposed OSU Green Lab Certification will provide specific metrics of addressing waste reduction and minimization in labs that go beyond the light green action of recycling.

Understanding which techniques are most likely to elicit pro-environmental behavior in the workplace is invaluable to developing a Green Lab Certification and predicting its potential efficacy at Oregon State University. Pro-environmental behaviors are most predictable based on influence from leadership, impactful environmental experiences, and how those experiences influence beliefs and feelings toward the environment. The OSU Green Lab Certification aims to leverage these predictors to encourage higher-level, upstream solutions for waste minimization and management in laboratories at Oregon State University. This survey is designed to encourage pro-environmental behavior and avoid penalizing inaction, which is why it is important to provide clear and accessible resources so that laboratories can be confident in implementing waste minimization techniques in whatever ways deemed feasible.

V. WHY CERTIFICATION?

Certifications are used across virtually all fields in order to assess knowledge and skill, to ensure that those who are certified perform at a given standard, and to communicate the values of an organization to consumers and/or the public. As of 2010, 10% of timber, 7% of coffee, and 12% of wild fish products circulated in international markets were certified as being sustainably produced (Eilperin, 2010). Researchers investigating the evidence on the efficacy of certification of goods and services found that certification of products improved the producer's environmental, social, and economic performance at varying degrees (Blackman and Rivera, 2011). The International Organization for Standardization (ISO is the globally used acronym) is an organization that certifies environmental management systems via their program, ISO 4001

(ISO, 2019). Arimura et al. (2007) found that the effect of ISO 4001 implementation and reporting on environmental performance in the areas of natural resource use, solid waste generation, and wastewater discharge in Japanese facilities has resulted in significant reduction across all three metrics. Environmentally focused certification programs inform participants of their options when exploring how they may implement sustainable practices in the workplace while also acknowledging efforts that have already been made.

Green offices and buildings, specifically, have been shown to yield both economic benefits and psychosocial benefits in the workplace. A 2018 study surveying employees of green-certified office buildings versus conventional buildings found that employees of greencertified buildings were found to score higher on survey outcomes related to job satisfaction, value to clients and stakeholders, evaluation of management, and corporate engagement (Newsham et.al, 2018). In voluntary programs, certifying buildings and office spaces with regards to sustainability and environmental consciousness have proven to be an effective tool for developing and maintaining a Green Lab program (Arimura, 2008).

"Green Laboratories" are a relatively recent concept compared to other environmentally related certification programs. One of the original and leading programs that spearheaded a Green Laboratory certification program was My Green Lab, a 501c3 non-profit organization founded in 2013. My Green Lab's certification program is the global standard for sustainability best practices in labs, as recognized by AASHE, the American Energy Society, and the International Institute for Sustainable Laboratories (My Green Lab, 2019). My Green Lab reports similar data as PG&E, stating that, "...the opportunity for energy reduction is enormous and untapped, as laboratories consume as much as five times more energy per square foot than typical offices..." emphasizing that laboratories have a great need and potential as a result of a

Green Laboratory Certification program. Since green lab programs are so new and laboratory conditions can vary so greatly, a standardized format has not yet been accepted for certification of Green Labs. Many individualized Green Lab programs are built off Green Office and Green School initiatives. Developing an effective Green Office Initiative includes consideration of scientific evidence, top-down governance, and bottom-up governance approaches (Zen et. al, 2016). The 'green school project' was first introduced in 1994 by the Foundation of European Environmental Education. The purpose of this project was to ultimately develop a comprehensive environmental management system for schools (Zhao et. al, 2015). According to the Center of Green School U.S. Green Building Council, general characteristics of a green school include conserving energy and natural resources, improving indoor air quality, removing toxic materials from areas in contact with children, making use of daylight, and encouraging recycling (Zhao et. al, 2015).

VI. GREEN LAB CERTIFICATION METHODOLOGY

A. Survey Development

Oregon State University's customized and comprehensive Green Lab Certification survey references both techniques and behaviors associated with minimizing waste in laboratories. The survey included six categories – energy conservation, water conservation, waste management, lab purchasing, transportation, and education & engagement – each with several general and university-specific questions that assess the state of overall sustainability within the laboratory. Each section includes quantitative assessment and scoring of these categories. Each category was built with reference to various sources on waste management best practices specific to laboratories, existing certification programs of similar focus, and services available through

Oregon State University. The point values and scoring system were adapted from a series of existing Green Office and Green Lab Certification programs (Oregon State University, 2017; UC Boulder, 2019; University of Washington, 2015; Villanova University, 2015; Yale University, 2018). The scoring system for the OSU Green Lab Certification program is detailed below. The point value of each question complements the challenge environmental impact of the individual action. Actions that have a more significant impact and/or are more challenging to complete are given higher point values than actions that are easier to complete and/or yield a less significant environmental impact. The amount of questions in each section do not reflect the value of the section overall, but instead reflect the well-roundedness of the categories themselves and the values of the actions within the sections.

Adjusted Overall Score Range (%)	Certification Level
80-100	Platinum (Pt)
70-79	Gold (Au)
60-69	Silver (Ag)
50-59	Copper (Cu)
0-49	No certification

According to sources such as Pacific Gas & Electric and My Green Lab, labs consume approximately five (5) times as much energy as regular office spaces of similar size (PG&E, 2011; My Green Lab, 2019). This difference is most likely due to the relatively high-energy equipment required for many lab procedures, which is why most of the quantitative questions in the category of energy conservation focus on minimizing use of high-energy equipment, specifically fume hoods, autoclaves, freezers/refrigerators, and computers. This section also includes questions regarding energy efficiency of overhead and task lighting, highlighting that the OSU Sustainability Office provides CFL and/or LED bulbs to offices across campus upon request. This section accounts for 12 of the 35 quantitative questions in the survey.

The water conservation category emphasizes minimizing use of water, specifically regarding deionized water because it uses a considerable amount of energy. Capacitive deionization (CDI) is a common method used to deionize and sterilize water, and it also consumes a relatively lower amount of energy than other deionization techniques (Yu et al., 2016). This technology still requires a minimum of 1 kilowatt-hour of energy per meter-cubed of water processed (Yu et al., 2016). Each lab may implement a different technique to minimize soap and water usage when hand-washing equipment, and therefore one question in this category requests that the user describe how water use is minimized in order to ensure applicability of the question across a variety of labs. This section accounts for 3 of the 35 quantitative questions in the survey.

The waste management category assesses utilization of available recycling services offered by OSU's Department of Environmental Health & Safety, minimization of single-use items, and proper disposal of material waste such as pipette tips, disposable gloves, and paper. In addition to general recycling (paper, cardboard) and chemical disposal, EH&S also offers services for "special" recycling specific products that are not regularly recyclable, such as pipette tip boxes, non-hazardous used latex gloves, Styrofoam coolers, and others. Pro-environmental behavior is most effectively encouraged when waste minimizing action is normalized and made easily accessible. In order to go beyond "light green" waste minimizing actions like recycling, these questions are designed to provide specific metrics and actionable changes that lab representatives have the freedom of implementing where practical. This section accounts for 11 of the 35 quantitative questions in the survey.

The lab purchasing category focuses on sharing resources and environmentally conscious purchasing (or avoidance of purchasing) on behalf of the lab. Creating networks of communal spaces and equipment not only cuts down significantly on redundancy and waste across OSU's labs, but it also introduces an opportunity to foster the normalization of pro-environmental behavior and connection of collective values with collective action. Questions in this section also encourage users to incorporate environmentally preferred products into regular circulation in the lab, specifically energy-efficient equipment and eco-friendly cleaning products. This section accounts for 3 of the 35 quantitative questions in the survey.

Transportation is the most significant generator of greenhouse gas emissions in the United States, accounting for approximately 29% of total emissions in 2017 (EPA, 2017). Travelling for research, conferences, presentations, and other work-related trips is a common occurrence associated with lab work. The transportation category of the survey prioritizes methods of transportation alternative to single-passenger vehicles, as well as emphasizing minimization of travel and instead, utilizing video/phone conferencing technology whenever possible. This section accounts for 4 of the 35 quantitative questions in the survey.

Continuous education and engagement of lab members is imperative to ensuring lasting pro-environmental behavior. The inability of many labs to meet standards of energy efficiency and waste minimization is often attributed to confusion regarding sustainable guidelines and standards (Woolliams et al., 2005). The education & engagement category of the survey prioritizes clarifying standards of sustainable best practices in labs. Questions in this section encourage labs to place informational signage in strategic locations around the laboratory, as well as ensuring that at least one person in the lab is well-informed on recent waste management

policies and services available at the university. This section accounts for 3 of the 35 quantitative questions in the survey.

In order to ensure that the Green Lab Certification would be an effective tool for Oregon State University, this program was reviewed, amended, and tested prior to implementation. One of the research-intensive colleges within Oregon State University is the College of Earth, Ocean, and Atmospheric Sciences. Referencing the college's website, "...[CEOAS] is built on a foundation of outstanding faculty who work together to solve today's complex, interdisciplinary environmental challenges," (CEOAS, 2019). Being that CEOAS is a research-focused college within Oregon's largest comprehensive research university, CEOAS served as an effective proxy to reference when developing a metric and set of standards to inform an OSU Green Laboratory Certification available to any laboratory across campus.

B. Amendment and Testing

Once an initial draft of the survey was arranged, ten (10) laboratories were contacted in the College of Earth, Ocean, and Atmospheric Sciences for pre-survey review. Of the ten (10) laboratories contacted, four (4) of them participated in meetings where the survey was introduced. The classifications of these labs included a physical oceanography garage/workshop, an environmental biochemistry lab, a microbial ecology lab, and a microbiological lab. The feedback from these labs indicated that the six (6) categories of the survey provided a complete and comprehensive assessment of pro-environmental behavior and action within each lab. Each lab representative expressed the importance of focusing on the encouragement of positive action rather than penalizing lack of action, and their feedback was considered when ensuring that the survey was flexible and accessible enough to be effective in a wide variety of laboratory and

research settings. Each question was also assessed for applicability and clarity, and several questions were consequently amended with more inclusive terminology.

Involving perspectives from multiple labs in the development and revision of the Green Lab Certification survey served to be an invaluable step in the process, and what makes this a unique program for the university. This feedback proved to be a critical step in ensuring that the Green Lab Certification program was representative of the accomplishments and needs of labs specifically at Oregon State University, as well as creating a direct avenue for lab representatives to communicate their needs, suggestions, and insight to those at the OSU Sustainability Office. Many of these labs also depend upon and have little control over services provided by the department/building in which they are housed, such as communal printing services, buildingwide HVAC systems, and/or university-owned computers. These representatives also expressed that they would be significantly more likely to implement and maintain pro-environmental actions in their labs if the university prioritized encouragement of positive action rather than penalizing inaction. Users also expressed that they would be more likely to pursue new methods of waste minimization if published research and easy-to-follow links accompanied each question as needed. For example, if a lab were to be encouraged to decrease the ultra-low-temperature (ULT) freezers from -80 to -70 degrees Celsius for the sake of energy conservation, they also would require supplemental information that ensures this action wouldn't compromise precious samples.

After amendments were made with perspectives of CEOAS lab representatives in mind, a final survey was officially administered to those same laboratories in order to help determine scoring guidelines, which are detailed in Appendix B. Once the scoring guidelines were finalized using the results gained from the administration of the survey during this study, it was

implemented by Oregon State University as the pilot Green Lab Certification program, available in Appendix A. Oregon State University's Sustainability Office plans to make the OSU Green Lab Certification accessible campus wide via Qualtrics, a system regularly used by the university for official surveys by the end of Winter of 2020. Once the survey is completed by a lab representative, employees at the OSU Sustainability Office will convert the answers into quantitative scores that helped to determine which Certification Level – None, Copper, Silver, Gold, and Platinum – accurately represents the overall sustainability of that laboratory, as well as which suggestions would be appropriate for future improvement. Laboratories will be welcome to resubmit thee survey at any time if they aim to increase their score after implementing new sustainable practices.

VII. SURVEY RESULTS

The Green Lab Certification survey was completed on behalf of three (3) OSU labs prior to university-wide implementation. The first lab to complete the survey was Dr. Ed Dever, a physical oceanographer at OSU, on behalf of the Ocean Observing Center (OOC), an oceanographic workshop within the OSU system but located a few miles south of the school's main campus. This lab marked four (4) of the thirty-five (35) questions as not applicable based on limitations set on them by the university, as well as types of equipment that are not used in the lab. For example, this lab does not control purchasing decisions regarding work computers because computers are provided by the university. Additionally, this lab does not require the use of high-energy sterilizers (such as autoclaves), and therefore that question was not applicable. For these four (4) questions, the point values were removed from analysis so as not to penalize the lab for not meeting the expectations set by the survey. Once these values were removed, the

total maximum point value decreased from 113 to 100 possible points. This lab scored most highly in the category of lab purchasing with an adjusted score of 100%, followed by waste management with an adjusted score of 80.6%. The lab scored lowest in the water conservation category with an adjusted score of 31.5%, and the second lowest-scoring category was in transportation with an adjusted score of 34.4%. Dividing the combined earned points (65.43 points) by the adjusted total (100 points), this resulted in a score of 65.43%, or a Silver certification level.

The Green Lab Certification survey was also completed by Ms. Kylie Welch, the lab manager for chemical oceanographer Dr. Miguel Goni's biochemical lab within the College of Earth, Ocean, and Atmospheric Sciences at Oregon State University. The lab does not require the use of toxic or volatile chemicals, and therefore no concerted efforts were needed to minimize use. This lab also receives computers from the university, and therefore has essentially no control over the energy ratings of these devices. This lab does, however, source computers from OSU Surplus, a department on-campus where used equipment is refurbished and cycled back into the university when possible. Removing the point values associated with these questions brought the total maximum point value decreased from 113 to 103 possible points. This lab scored most highly in the category of lab purchasing with an adjusted score of 100%, followed by waste management with an adjusted score of 80.6%. The lab scored lowest in the transportation category with an adjusted score of 33.2%, and the second lowest-scoring category was in water conservation with an adjusted score of 45%. The lab then proceeded to answer all questions that were applicable and earned 72.2 points. Dividing the combined earned points (72.2 points) by the adjusted total (103 points), this resulted in a score of 70.1%, or a Gold certification level.

The third lab to complete the Green Lab Certification survey during this trial period was Dr. Rick Colwell's biogeochemistry lab within the College of Earth, Ocean, and Atmospheric Sciences at Oregon State University. This lab representative reported that all questions were, in fact, applicable to the lab, and therefore the total possible points remained as 113 points. This lab scored most highly in the category of lab purchasing with a score of 100%, followed by waste management with a score of 75%. The lab scored lowest in the education & engagement category with a score of 16.7%, and the second lowest-scoring category was in transportation with a score of 33.3%. Dividing the combined earned points (64.1 points) by the total (113 points), this resulted in a score of 56.7%, or a Copper certification level.

			Sco	res Earned p	er Category (%)			
Lab Name	Energy	Water	Waste	Purchasing	Transportation	Education	Overall	Certification Level
Dever (OOC)	63.3	31.5	80.6	100	34.4	100	65.4	Silver (Ag)
Goni	75.1	45	86.2	100	33.2	58.3	70.1	Gold (Au)
Colwell	59.4	45	75	100	33.3	16.7	56.7	Copper (Cu)

VIII. DISCUSSION

The Silver certification level earned by the Ocean Observing Center effectively acknowledges the existing efforts made to encourage pro-environmental behavior and action in this lab while also allowing for future improvement. Based on these results, the Ocean Observing Center would receive feedback suggesting that it prioritizes bringing up scores in these categories, with specific feedback including a gradual transition to 100% LED or CFL lighting sources, enabling power management settings on work computers, and encouraging alternative methods of transportation among lab members.

Dr. Goni's lab scored most highly overall among the labs that participated in the survey during this study, earning a Gold certification level. This lab has made exceptional efforts to minimize energy consumption and production of waste, and the high score earned reflects those efforts made. Based on these results, Dr. Goni's lab would likely receive feedback geared toward the categories in which the lab scored lowest, transportation and water conservation. This feedback could include suggestions such as retrofitting faucets with aerators rates at 1 gallon per minute or less, exploring alternatives to travelling to conferences (such as requesting recordings of seminars, teleconferencing, or requesting minutes/notes from the meetings), and assigning someone in the lab to undertake the role of Green Lab Representative to implement and maintain these practices.

Dr. Colwell's lab received a Copper certification level, earning points in every category and over half of the possible points in the survey overall. Feedback from these results would prioritize increasing scores in the category of education & engagement, with specific recommendations including identifying a Green Lab Representative for the lab, informing staff of special materials that can be recycled through OSU, and installing signage that encourages pro-environmental behavior in the lab such as reminders to turn off the lights near switches and/or water conservation tips near faucets. All the labs that complete the Green Lab Certification program, including those that participated during this study, may respond to this feedback, request assistance for implementing sustainable practices as needed, and improve its certification level at any time.

Upon implementation of the OSU Green Lab Certification program, the next and most important step is creating and maintaining motivation for laboratories on campus to participate in the OSU Green Lab Certification program. This survey is designed to allow for continuous feedback, and as more users work with this program, the Sustainability Office will be able to fine-tune the survey to be adaptable over time. Depending on resources available, there could even be awards to recognize outstanding sustainability efforts on the individual, laboratory, office/departmental, college, and even residence hall levels across campus. Green lab representatives from certified green labs across campus can form as liaisons for the OSU Sustainability Office when pursuing future initiatives that support sustainability in OSU's labs.

All three labs that completed the OSU Green Lab Certification program over the duration of this study indicated that travel associated with lab work exceeds 5,000 miles per year. Since transportation and travel accounts for such as major percentage of the United States overall carbon footprint, Oregon State University may use travel and transportation data gained from this survey to inform future campus-wide legislation that supports offsetting the cost of carbon emissions associated with work-related travel. Along with the focus on transportation and travel, this survey may become a source of data that helps the Sustainability Office and others at OSU learn where the opportunities for future sustainability initiatives exist across campus. Moving forward from this study, more defined research may be conducted on the cost of offsetting the carbon emitted by work-related travel, and how much travel tends to occur with the "average" lab on OSU's campus. This could potentially help inform whether including the cost of "offsetting" carbon emissions related with travel in research proposals would have any impact on the competitiveness of these proposals with granting agencies.

IX. CONCLUSION

The concept of "environmental sustainability" in laboratories is a recent one, but a very important one. Research-intensive universities can find value in prioritizing sustainability in laboratories because these research settings tend to account for very large portions of their overall waste accumulation. Rather than working to devise university-wide solutions, this study focuses on an important entity within this research-intensive university – laboratories.

According to studies by Pacific Gas & Electric, laboratories can consume at least five (5) times more energy and resources than other offices of similar size, and university laboratories are important opportunities to encourage and maintain pro-environmental behavior. Factors that encourage pro-environmental behavior include establishing relationships between humans and the environment, encouragement over criticism, and normalization of eco-friendly actions and behaviors. Certification programs have also proven to be effective in maintaining accountability and consistency in standardized practices, as well as a helpful tool in evaluating and rewarding pro-environmental behavior. With these considerations, the OSU Green Lab Certification program was designed.

Results gained from administration of the OSU Green Lab Certification survey during this study indicated that the survey provided effective and comprehensive assessment of waste minimizing action and pro-environmental behavior in OSU's labs. Three (3) labs participated in the survey, each reporting different strengths and areas for potential improvement with regards to sustainable best practices. These results guided the determination of personalized recommendations for each lab that accompanied the certification level received by each lab. The results of this survey also have the potential to inform the development of future initiatives and regulations that support pro-environmental behavior across the OSU campus and community.

Involving OSU labs in the development, amendment, and testing of the Green Lab Certification survey served to be an invaluable step in the process because it ensured that this program was clear, concise, applicable, and effective. OSU Green Lab Certification is the first of its kind at Oregon State University due to this collaborative process, and it serves as a comprehensive assessment of sustainable practices in the university's laboratories. This program was built with consideration of factors that encourage pro-environmental behavior, best practices in waste minimization, and accountability via university-wide certification. The OSU Green Lab Certification program will join a three-part initiative by the OSU Sustainability Office, including the existing Green Office program and an upcoming Green Greek program.

X. APPENDIX

A. The OSU Green Lab Certification Survey:

Oregon State University					
1/10. Welcome to the Green	Lab Certification!				
The Green Lab Certification is an easy and fun way for OSU employees to start or improve laboratory sustainability efforts and get recognition for their work. It is intended to provide ideas for steps your lab can take to increase engagement and awareness, and reduce your environmental footprint and carbon emissions.					
	-time action (such as printing and posting signage, for example), then y and count that action toward your certification.				
needed, the Sustainability Office	mediately upon submission, as some items require manual calculation. If e will contact you with with follow up questions about your submission. e complete, we will send your score and certification level, as well as mprovements.				
Note: In order to receive certification, your l	ab must have at least one action in each section of the assessment tool.				
1. Which laboratory is seek Lab name Lab department Lab address	ing certification?				
Lab classification					
Total number of lab members (paid and unpaid)					
2. Primary contact for this asse	ssment				
Name					
E-mail Address					
Phone Number					
3. How did you learn about the	Green Lab Certification program?				
	>>				

2/10. ENERCY (ONSERVATION			
	ONSERVATION			
ypically cor	nsume 5 to 10 times n	y energy is utilized and o nore energy per square e to conserve energy wh	foot than typical offic	e buildings,
levices such ndicate what	as computers, laptops, mo portion of electronics are	nent settings, switch off or pnitors, copiers and printe off or asleep after one hou	rs after one hour of inac r of inactivity (0-100%).	
or more injo c	25	s to automatic sleep mode, <u>vi</u> : 50	<u>sit nere</u> . 75	100
0				
				ot Applicable
% M2. Task lig	•	;) use CFL or LED bulbs. Pi ient (such as CFL or LED) liq	ease estimate the perce	ot Applicable ntage (0-
% EN2. Task lig .00%) of task Replacing inca. ong! The susta	lighting uses energy-effici ndescent bulbs with energy-e nability office has free CFLs		ease estimate the perce ght bulbs. <u>% less energy, and last up</u>	ntage (0- <u>to 25 times as</u>
% EN2. Task lig LOO%) of task Replacing inca. ong! The susta	lighting uses energy-effici ndescent bulbs with energy-e nability office has free CFLs	ient (such as CFL or LED) lig fficient bulbs <u>can use up to 80</u>	ease estimate the perce ght bulbs. <u>% less energy, and last up</u>	ntage (0- <u>to 25 times as</u>
% EN2. Task lig LOO%) of task Replacing inca ong! The susta using are not C	lighting uses energy-efficient ndescent bulbs with energy-e nability office has free CFLs FLs or LEDs.	ient (such as CFL or LED) lig fficient bulbs <u>can use up to 80</u> and LEDs for your office; plea	lease estimate the perce ght bulbs. <u>9% less energy, and last up</u> se contact us if the bulbs yo	ntage (0- <u>to 25 times as</u> ou are currently
% EN2. Task lig LOO%) of task Replacing inca ong! The susta using are not C O	lighting uses energy-efficient ndescent bulbs with energy-e nability office has free CFLs FLs or LEDs.	ient (such as CFL or LED) lig fficient bulbs <u>can use up to 80</u> and LEDs for your office; plea	lease estimate the perce ght bulbs. <u>9% less energy, and last up</u> se contact us if the bulbs yo	ntage (0- <u>to 25 times as</u> ou are currently
% EN2. Task lig LOO%) of task Replacing inca ong! The susta using are not C O	lighting uses energy-efficient ndescent bulbs with energy-e nability office has free CFLs FLs or LEDs.	ient (such as CFL or LED) lig fficient bulbs <u>can use up to 80</u> and LEDs for your office; plea	lease estimate the perce ght bulbs. <u>9% less energy, and last up</u> se contact us if the bulbs yo	ntage (0- <u>to 25 times as</u> ou are currently
% EN2. Task lig LOO%) of task Replacing inca ong! The susta using are not C 0 % EN3. Overhea	i lighting uses energy-efficient indescent bulbs with energy-e ainability office has free CFLs FLs or LEDs. 25 d lighting utilizes energy	ient (such as CFL or LED) lig fficient bulbs <u>can use up to 80</u> and LEDs for your office; plea	lease estimate the perce ght bulbs. <u>1% less energy, and last up</u> se contact us if the bulbs yo 75 imate the percentage (0	ntage (0- <u>to 25 times as</u> bu are currently 100
% EN2. Task lig .00%) of task Replacing incat ong! The sust using are not C 0 % EN3. Overhead werhead ligh	i lighting uses energy-efficient indescent bulbs with energy-e anability office has free CFLs iFLs or LEDs. 25 d lighting utilizes energy ting that uses energy-effice <u>lity Office</u> has free CFLs and L	ient (such as CFL or LED) lig fficient bulbs <u>can use up to 80</u> and LEDs for your office; plea 50 -efficient bulbs . Please est	lease estimate the perce ght bulbs. <u>1% less energy, and last up</u> se contact us if the bulbs yo 75 imate the percentage (0 ght bulbs.	ntage (0- <u>to 25 times as</u> bu are currently 100 -100%) of

0	6	12	18	24
Hours				
100%) of time d	-	or air conditioning is active heating or air conditioning ve operable windows.		
0	25	50	75	10
%				Not Applicable
	25	50	75	10
0	25	50	75	10
(0-100%) of tim 0 %	25	50	75	
0	25	50	_	
0 % EN7. Appliance		50 Ted when practical. If so, wh		Not Applicable
0 % EN7. Appliance currently Energ	s are Energy Star certifi			Not Applicable
0 % EN7. Appliance: currently Energ Yes, please	s are Energy Star certifi gy Star Certified?			
0 % EN7. Appliance: currently Energ Yes, please No	s are Energy Star certifi gy Star Certified? list the appliances.			Not Applicabl
0 % EN7. Appliance: currently Energ Yes, please	s are Energy Star certifi gy Star Certified? list the appliances.			Not Applicabl
0 % EN7. Appliance: currently Energ Yes, please No No Not applical	s are Energy Star certifi gy Star Certified? list the appliances.		hich appliances in y	Not Applicable
0 % EN7. Appliance: currently Energ Yes, please No Not applicat	s are Energy Star certifi gy Star Certified? list the appliances.	ed when practical. If so, w	hich appliances in y	Not Applicable

EN9. Freezer/refrigerator doors are inspected for frost accumulation around door seal gaskets at least
monthly.

◎ Yes

◎ _{No}

Not applicable

EN10. None of the refrigerators/freezers in the lab were built earlier than 15 years prior to the current date.

◎ Yes

◎ _{No}

Not applicable

EN11. **High-energy sterilizers (combustion ovens, autoclaves, etc.) are only used when your lab (or group of labs) can run a full load.** Please estimate the percentage (0-100%) of times when your lab is able to run high-energy sterilizers at (safely) full capacity.

Rarely	Sometimes	P	lost of the time	Always
0	25	50	75	100
%			1	Not Applicable
•	ents, questions, etc. spec s section, you have the opti			*

Back to Navigation Page

>>

3/10. WATE	R CONSERVATION			
This section a	ssesses how efficiently wa	ter is utilized and conserved	d in the lab.	
WC1. Efforts a describe.	are made to minimize wat	er/soap usage when hand	-washing equipment; if s	o, please
	ou can have a container with trated soap on everything yo	soapy water next to the sink v u wash.	when washing equipment, ra	ther than
• Yes, pleas	e describe			
No				
Not applie	cable			
Yes				
No				
Net and I	cable			
Not applie				
WC3. Estimat water.) of water usage that is dei		
WC3. Estimat water. O	25) of water usage that is dei 50	ionized and/or Ultrapure	
WC3. Estimat water. O				treated 100
WC3. Estimat water. O	25			
WC3. Estimat water. 0 Percent DI/	25 /Ultrapure water (%) nments, questions, etc. sp	50 ecific to this section? If you	75 u selected "Not Applicabl	100 e" for any
WC3. Estimat water. 0 Percent DI/	25 /Ultrapure water (%) nments, questions, etc. sp	50	75 u selected "Not Applicabl	100 e" for any

/10. Naste Management	
. ,	ow efficiently different forms of material waste are managed in the ows existing guidelines for waste management as set by
/M1. Our lab participates in the O	SU Department Composting program.
o learn more about Department Com	posting and how to sign up, see <u>this link</u> .
● Yes	
○ No	
[◯] We compost, but not through tl	his program
Not applicable	
Cardboard Aluminum Glass Pipette tips Disposable gloves (non-biohazard only Ink cartriges Packing peanuts Other	y)
Not applicable //M3. Pipette tip refills are purcha	sed instead of new boxes from supplier.
) Yes	
○ _{No}	
Not applicable	
/M4. All trash cans in common ar	eas are paired with recycling bins, as space allows.
VM4. All trash cans in common ar Yes	eas are paired with recycling bins, as space allows.

	Yes
D	No
)	Other
)	Not applicable
M	6. We have a scrap paper bin near printers to be reused for scrap or internal memos.
)	Yes
)	No
)	Other
)	Not applicable
	7. Our break rooms and/or kitchens provide reusable dishes and silverware.
	Yes
	No
	Other
)	Not applicable
	Not applicable
	Not applicable 8. We use OSU Surplus to:
Μ	8. We use OSU Surplus to:
M	8. We use OSU Surplus to: details on OSU Surplus, visit <u>here.</u>
M	8. We use OSU Surplus to:
M or	8. We use OSU Surplus to: <i>details on OSU Surplus, visit <u>here.</u> Find needed furniture and office supplies before purchasing new.</i>

WM9. We use rechargeable batteries in place of dispo	osable ones when possible.
• Yes	
No	
Other	
Not applicable	
WM10. We recycle all of our used batteries by taking across campus.	them to collection bins at designated locations
To find the locations of collection bins visit <u>here</u> .	
◎ Yes	
◎ No	
Other	
Not applicable	
WM11. Efforts have been made to limit the num the lab; if so, please describe.	ber and toxicity/volatility of chemicals in
Yes, please describe.	
◎ No	
-	
Not applicable	
WM12. Any comments, questions, etc. specific to this questions in this section, you have the option to exp	
	//
	Back to Navigation Page

Oregon State University

5/10. LAB PURCHASING

This section focuses on the efficiency of purchasing specific to your lab. Since labs account for major users of overall resource use in universities, we encourage being conscious of what resources are purchased and brought into the cycle of waste in university laboratories.

LP1. We only purchase computer-related equipment that is EnergyStar compliant and/or with an EPEAT rating of at least Gold.

Learn more about Energy Star and EPEAT products at www.energystar.gov and www.epeat.net.

\frown		
\bigcirc	YDS	
	105	

No

Other

Not applicable

LP2. For our lab and common area(s), we use environmentally preferred cleaning products when possible.

To find "environmentally preferred" products, look for phrases such as "contains no phthalates," "phosphate free", and "biodegradable in 10 days." Terms such as "natural," "eco-friendly," and "nontoxic" aren't regulated terms in the United States and may or may not indicate some level of environmental sensitivity. Additionally, baking soda and vinegar can substitute for harsher cleaning chemicals in many cases. OSU custodial products are Green Seal certified.

Yes
No
Other
Not applicable

LP2. For our lab and common area(s), we use environmentally preferred cleaning products when possible.

To find "environmentally preferred" products, look for phrases such as "contains no phthalates," "phosphate free", and "biodegradable in 10 days." Terms such as "natural," "eco-friendly," and "nontoxic" aren't regulated terms in the United States and may or may not indicate some level of environmental sensitivity. Additionally, baking soda and vinegar can substitute for harsher cleaning chemicals in many cases. OSU custodial products are Green Seal certified.

certifica.	
Yes	
No No	
Other	
Not applicable	
LP3. We utilize equipment communally among m	ultiple labs (for example, autoclaves) when possible.
◎ Yes	
No No	
Other	
Not applicable	
	to this section? If you selected "Not Applicable" he option to explain why you chose that/those
	Back to Navigation Page
	>>

Oregon State University

6/10. Transportation

This section works to emphasize that it is good to use alternative modes of transportation or to take advantage of telecommunications when possible. <u>Transportation is the leading source of CO2 Emissions</u> in the U.S., and it is best to stray from SOVs (single occupancy vehicles) when practical. For information about transportation services available at OSU, please visit <u>Transportation Services</u>.

TR1. Estimated percentage (0-100%) of employees in our lab who <u>routinely</u> get to campus using something other than a single-occupancy vehicle (SOV).

Examples of non-SOV modes include riding a bicycle, walking, carpooling, vanpooling, or using public transit.

0	25	50	75	100
%				

TR2. Estimate the number of miles that are flown by plane as a result of work in your lab per year (this would be a total of all your staff's lab-related trips).

- <100 miles per year</p>
- 100-500 miles per year
- 500-1,000 miles per year
- 1,000-5,000 miles per year
- >5,000 miles per year
- Our work has not required us to travel by plane yet.

Never	Sometimes	About half the time	Most of the time	Always
0	25	50	75	100
Percent tele	conference (%)		🗆 Not	Applicable
R4. We utilize	e University Motor Pool	vehicles and carpools for un	iversity-related travel, rat	her than
lriving alone	in personal vehicles.			
/isit <u>here</u> for ma	ore information on Motor F	Pool.		
Never	Sometimes	About half the time	Most of the time	Always
0	25	50	75	100
%			Not	Applicable
%			🗆 Not	Applicable
%			Not	Applicable
-				
R5. Any com		tc. specific to this section? you have the option to e	? If you selected "Not A	pplicable"
R5. Any com or any ques	tions in this section,	tc. specific to this section? you have the option to ea	? If you selected "Not A	pplicable"
785. Any com or any ques	tions in this section,		? If you selected "Not A	pplicable"
785. Any com or any ques	tions in this section,		? If you selected "Not A	pplicable"
R5. Any com	tions in this section,		? If you selected "Not A	pplicable"
R5. Any com or any ques	tions in this section,		? If you selected "Not A	pplicable"
785. Any com or any ques	tions in this section,		? If you selected "Not A	pplicable" nat/those



7/10. EDUCATION & ENGAGEMENT

This section prioritizes placing informational signage in strategic locations around the laboratory, as well as ensuring that at least one person in the lab is well-informed on recent waste management policies and services available at the University. There are also resources provided within each question to assist the user in the completion of that task as needed. Increasing awareness is often considered the first and most valuable step in practicing pro-environmental behavior!

ED1. A Green Lab Representative has been designated to maintain progress on sustainability goals and efforts in the lab. Who? What is a good point of contact?

A Green Lab Representative would be the primary liaison between your lab and the OSU Sustainability Office. This person's role serves to implement and maintain sustainable practices in your lab, as well as keeping up-to-date with OSU waste management policies and services. This can be anyone in your lab, including yourself.

Yes (please list name and contact information)

No

Other (please specify)

Not applicable

ED2. Our staff is informed on the special materials (such as Styrofoam, ink/toner cartridges, and electronic media) that can be recycled at OSU and know how to complete service requests for these materials.

For more details on special materials, visit here.

0	\mathcal{V}	_	_
\smile	Y	ρ	ς
		~	-

No

Other

All k	kitchens and bathrooms to encourage water conservation.
Pleas	se visit <u>here</u> to download a water saving sign.
On (or near all shared space light switches as reminders to turn off the lights.
For h	elp with printed reminders, please contact the Sustainability Office.
🗌 Nea	ar workstations to remind us to turn off office electronics during periods of inactivity over
one	hour.
For h	elp with printed reminders, please contact the Sustainability Office.
🗌 Nea	ar waste receptacles to encourage proper recycling of waste.
For a	downloadable and printable version of the OSU Recycling Guide, <u>click here</u> .
	ar fume hoods advising to shut the sash when not in use, which can save up to 60% of the argy used by the hood.
	rintable signage <u>, click here</u> .
Nor	ne
Oth	ler
or any	ny comments, questions, etc. specific to this section? If you selected "Not Applicable y questions in this section, you have the option to explain why you chose that/those r(s) here.
	Back to Navigation Page

B C =100*(SUM(B30,B40,B58,B68,B79,B89))/(SUM(B31,B41,B59,B69,B80,B90)) (SUM(B31,B41,B59,B69,B80,B90)) tage Level of Certification Pt % Pt Au 9% Au Ag 9% Cu Cu 9% Cu Cu 9% Cu Cu 9% - Cu 9% Cu Cu 9% Cu Cu 9% - Cu 9% - LAB INFORMATI 1 - LAB INFORMATI		,		,	I		1	
=100*(SUM(B30,B40,B58,B68,B79,B89))/(SUM(B31,B41,B59,B69,B80,B90)) =100*(SUM(B30,B40,B58,B68,B79,B89))/(SUM(B32,B42,B60,B70,B81,B91)) Pt Pt Au Au Ag Cu - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -	A	B	0	D		m	m	F G
=100*(SUM(B30,B40,B58,B68,B79,B89))/(SUM(B32,B42,B60,B70,B81,B91)) Level of Certification Pt Au Ag Cu - - LAB INFORMATI	1 Raw Score:	=100*(SUM(B30,B40,B58,B68,B79,B89))/(S	UM(B31,B41,B59,B69,B80,B90))					
Level of Certification Pt Au Au Ag Cu - LAB INFORMATI		=100*(SUM(B30,B40,B58,B68,B79,B89))/(S	UM(B32,B42,B60,B70,B81,B91))					
Level of Certification Pt Au Ag Cu - LAB INFORMATI	ω							
Pt Au Ag Cu - - <i>LAB INFORMATI</i>		Level of Certification		Scoring Guidelines	uidelines	<u>uidelines</u>	uidelines	uidelines
Au Ag Cu - - <i>LAB INFORMATI</i>		Pt		1. Read throug	h the "Data Entry I	h the "Data Entry Instructions" for each que	1. Read through the "Data Entry Instructions" for each question.	h the "Data Entry Instructions" for each question.
Ag Cu - <i>LAB INFORMATI</i>		Au		2. Input answe	ers in "Answer" sect	ers in "Answer" sections from Qualtrics as in-	rs in "Answer" sections from Qualtrics as indicated by the "Da	2. Input answers in "Answer" sections from Qualtrics as indicated by the "Data Entry Instructions."
- - LAB INFORMATI		Ag		3. Highlight "N	A" rows in GRAY, b	A" rows in GRAY, but still put "0" in the "An	3. Highlight "NA" rows in GRAY, but still put "0" in the "Answer" box.	A" rows in GRAY, but still put "0" in the "Answer" box.
LAB INFORMATI		Cu		4. Subtract "N	A" <u>Max Points</u> from	A" <u>Max Points</u> from the " <u>Adjusted</u> Total" equ	A" <u>Max Points</u> from the " <u>Adjusted</u> Total" equation in EACH set	4. Subtract "NA" Max Points from the "Adjusted Total" equation in EACH section.
		-		5. Raw and Tot	al Scores will be av	5. Raw and Total Scores will be available above.	al Scores will be available above.	al Scores will be available above.
	10							
12Lab Name:13Lab Classification:13Lab Classification:14Primary Contact:15Email:	11		LAB INFORMATI	NO				
13Lab Classification:14Primary Contact:15Email:	12 Lab Name:							
14 Primary Contact: 15 Email:	13 Lab Classification:							
15 Email:	14 Primary Contact:							
	15 Email:							

A. <u>The OSU Green Lab Certification Scoring Guidelines:</u>

A	7	8 Question:		9 EN1	10 EN2	11 EN3	12 EN4	13 EN5									14 ENO 15 EN7 16 EN8 17 EN9 18 EN10 19 EN11 20 EN12 21 Points Earned:			14 ENO 15 EN7 16 EN8 17 EN9 18 EN10 19 EN11 20 EN12 20 EN12 21 Points Earned: 22 Raw Total: 23 Adjusted Total								
œ		Brief Description:	enabling power management settings on	computers	task lighting using LED/CFL	overhead lighting using LED/CFL	using natural light when possible	closing windows when HVAC is in use	layered clothing to adapt to room temp	Energy Star Certified appliances	freezer/fridge cleanouts		freezer/fridge door frost inspection	n eccer/mage ocenious freezer/fridge door frost inspection no freezers/fridges older than 15yrs	n reezer/fridge door frost inspection freezer/fridge door frost inspection no freezers/fridges older than 15yrs autoclaves only used when full	n erecr/tridge door frost inspection no freezer/fridges older than 15yrs autoclaves only used when full section-specific feedback												
0	ENERGY CONSERVATION	Data Entry Instructions:		Input raw number, NA=0	Input raw number, NA=0	Input raw number, NA=0	Input raw number, NA=0	Input raw number, NA=0	Input raw number, NA=0	Yes=1, No=0, NA=0		Yes=1, No=0, NA=0	Yes=1, No=0, NA=0 Yes=1, No=0, NA=0	Yes=1, No=0, NA=0 Yes=1, No=0, NA=0 Yes=1, No=0, NA=0	Yes=1, No=0, NA=0 Yes=1, No=0, NA=0 Yes=1, No=0, NA=0 Input raw number, NA=0	Yes=1, No=0, NA=0 Yes=1, No=0, NA=0 Yes=1, No=0, NA=0 Input raw number, NA=0 No point value	Yes=1, No=0, NA=0 Yes=1, No=0, NA=0 Yes=1, No=0, NA=0 Input raw number, NA=0 No point value	Yes=1, No=0, NA=0 Yes=1, No=0, NA=0 Input raw number, NA=0 No point value	Yes=1, No=0, NA=0 Yes=1, No=0, NA=0 Input raw number, NA=0 No point value Removes NA max points (change the equation "-0" to "-# removed")	Yes=1, No=0, NA=0 Yes=1, No=0, NA=0 Input raw number, NA=0 No point value Removes NA max points (change the equation "-C	Yes=1, No=0, NA=0 Yes=1, No=0, NA=0 Input raw number, NA=0 No point value Removes NA max points (change the equation "-0	Yes=1, No=0, NA=0 Yes=1, No=0, NA=0 Input raw number, NA=0 No point value Removes NA max points (change the equation "-C	Yes=1, No=0, NA=0 Yes=1, No=0, NA=0 Input raw number, NA=0 No point value Removes NA max points (change the equation "-C Data Entry Instructions: Yes=1, No=0, NA=0	Yes=1, No=0, NA=0 Yes=1, No=0, NA=0 Input raw number, NA=0 No point value Removes NA max points (change the equation "-C Data Entry Instructions: Yes=1, No=0, NA=0 Yes=1, No=0, NA=0	Yes=1, No=0, NA=0 Yes=1, No=0, NA=0 Input raw number, NA=0 No point value Removes NA max points (change the equation "-C WATER CONSERVATION Data Entry Instructions: Yes=1, No=0, NA=0 Input raw number, NA=0	Yes=1, No=0, NA=0 Yes=1, No=0, NA=0 Input raw number, NA=0 No point value Removes NA max points (change the equation "-C WATER CONSERVATION Data Entry Instructions: Yes=1, No=0, NA=0 Input raw number, NA=0 No point value	Yes=1, No=0, NA=0 Yes=1, No=0, NA=0 Input raw number, NA=0 No point value Removes NA max points (change the equation "-C WATER CONSERVATION Data Entry Instructions: Yes=1, No=0, NA=0 Yes=1, No=0, NA=0 Input raw number, NA=0 No point value	Yes=1, No=0, NA=0 Yes=1, No=0, NA=0 Input raw number, NA=0 No point value Removes NA max points (change the equation "-C WATER CONSERVATION Data Entry Instructions: Yes=1, No=0, NA=0 Yes=1, No=0, NA=0 Input raw number, NA=0 No point value
D		Answer:														0	0	0	0 " to "-# removed")	0 " to "-# removed")	0 " to "-# removed")	0 " to "-# removed")	0 " to "-# removed")	0 " to "-# removed") Answer:	0 " to "-# removed") Answer:	0 " to "-# removed") Answer: 0	0 " to "-# removed") Answer:	0 " to "-# removed") Answer:
m		Max Points:		ω	З	ω	ω	2	ω	4	IJ		ω	ωω	ωωα	οωωω	ο ω ω υ	ο ω ω ω	ο ω ω υ			Max Points:	Max Points:	Max Points:	Max Points:	0 3 3 3 4 4 3 3 3 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4	Max Points:	Max Points:
т		Points earned:		=(D9/100)*E9	=(D10/100)*E10	=(D11/100)*E11	=(D12/100)*E12	=(D13/100)*E13	=(D14/100)*E14	=D15*E15	=D16*E16		=D17*E17	=D17*E17 =D18*E18	=D17*E17 =D18*E18 =D19*E19	=D17*E17 =D18*E18 =D19*E19 0	=D17*E17 =D18*E18 =D19*E19 0	=D17*E17 =D18*E18 =D19*E19 0	=D17*E17 =D18*E18 =D19*E19 0	=D17*E17 =D18*E18 =D19*E19 0	=D17*E17 =D18*E18 =D19*E19 0	=D17*E17 =D18*E18 =D19*E19 0 0	=D17*E17 =D18*E18 =D19*E19 0 Points earned: =D27*E27	=D17*E17 =D18*E18 =D19*E19 0 Points earned: =D27*E27 =D28*E28	=D17*E17 =D18*E18 =D19*E19 0 Points earned: =D27*E27 =D28*E28 =(D29/100)*E29	=D17*E17 =D18*E18 =D19*E19 0 Points earned: =D27*E27 =D27*E27 =D28*E28 =(D29/100)*E29	=D17*E17 =D18*E18 =D19*E19 0 Points earned: =D27*E27 =D28*E28 =(D29/100)*E29 0	=D17*E17 =D18*E18 =D19*E19 0 Points earned: =D27*E27 =D28*E28 =(D29/100)*E29 0

	61 Adjusted Total.	60 Raw Total:	59 Points Earned:	58 LP4	57 LP3	56 LP2	55 LP1	54 Question:	53	52	51 Adjusted Total:	50 Raw Total:	49 Points Earned:	48 WM12	47 WM11	46 WM10	45 WM9	44 WM8	43 WM7	42 WM6	41 WM5	40 WM4	39 WM3	38 WM2	37 WM1	36 Question:	35	34	A
		=SUM(E55:E57)	1: =SUM(F55:F57)	section-specific feedback	shared equipment among labs	eco-friendly cleaning products	efficient computer-related equipment	Brief Description:			al: =SUM(E37:E47)-0	=SUM(E37:E47)		section-specific feedback	limiting toxic/volatile chemicals	recycling batteries	rechargeable batteries	OSU surplus	reusable dishes/flatware	srap paper bin	shared supplies space	trash paired with recycling	pipette tip refills	recycling	department composting	Brief Description:			B
עפוווסגפז אע ווופע לסוווניז (הוופוו§ב תוב בלחפווסוד -ס	Removes NA may points (change the equation "-0" to "-# removed")			No point value	Yes=1, No=0, NA=0	Yes=1, No=0, NA=0	Yes=1, No=0, NA=0	Data Entry Instructions:	LAB PURCHASING		Removes NA max points (change the equation "-0" to "-# removed")			No point value	Yes=1, No=0, NA=0	Yes=1, No=0, NA=0	Yes=1, No=0, NA=0	1 point per item checked	Yes=1, No=0, NA=0	Yes=1, No=0, NA=0	Yes=1, No=0, NA=0	Yes=1, No=0, NA=0	Yes=1, No=0, NA=0	1 point per type of item recycled	Yes=2, Not through OSU = 1, No=0, NA=0	Data Entry Instructions:	WASTE MANAGEMENT		0
to -# lelloved /	to "_# removed")			0				Answer:			to "-# removed")			0												Answer:			D
				0	ω	2	ω	Max Points:						0	ω	ω	ω	4	ω	1	Ъ	1	1	8	4	Max Points:			m
				0	=D57*E57	=D56*E56	=D55*E55	Points earned:						0	=D47*E47	=D46*E46	=D45*E45	=(D44/2)*E44	=D43*E43	=D42*E42	=D41*E41	=D40*E40	=D39*E39	=(D38/8)*E38	=D37*E37	Points earned:			т

81	80	79	78	77	76	75	74	73	72	71	70	69	89	67	66	65	64	63	62	
81 Raw Total:	80 Points Earned:	79 ED4	78 ED3	ED2	ED1	75 Question:			72 Adjusted Total:	71 Raw Total:	70 Points Earned:	69 TR5	68 TR4	TR3	66 TR2	TR1	64 Question:			A
=SUM(E76:E78)	=SUM(F76:F78)	section-specific feedback	signage	informed on special recycling	Green Lab rep	Brief Description:			=SUM(E65:E68)-0	=SUM(E65:E68)	=SUM(F65:F68)	section-specific feedback	OSU motor pool	teleconferencing	miles flown per year	non-SOV transportation	Brief Description:			В
		No point value	1 point per item checked	Yes=1, No=0, NA=0	Yes=1, No=0, NA=0	Data Entry Instructions:	EDUCATION & ENGAGEMENT		Removes NA max points (change the equation "-0" to "-# removed")			No point value	Input raw number, NA=0	Input raw number, NA=0	No travel=6, <100mi=5, 100-500mi=4, >5000mi=0	Input raw number, NA=0	Data Entry Instructions:	TRANSPORTATION		C
		0				Answer:	•) "-# removed")			0					Answer:			D
		0	U	4	ω	Max Points:						0	4	4	6	4	Max Points:			m
		0	=(D78/5)*E78	=D77*E77	=D76*E76	Points earned:						0	=(D68/100)*E68	=(D67/100)*E67	=(D66/6)*E66	=(D65/100)*E65	Points earned:			Π

82 Adjusted Total: =SUM(E76:E78)-0

Removes NA max points (change the equation "-0" to "-# removed")

REFERENCES

- Arimura, T. A. Hibiki, & H. Katayama. (2008). Is a voluntary approach an effective environmental policy instrument? A case for environmental management systems. J. *Environ. Econ. Manag.* 55, pp. 281-295. DOI: 10.1016/j.jeem.2007.09.002.
- Association for the Advancement of Sustainability in Higher Education (AASHE). (2019). Oregon State University – The Sustainability Tracking, Assessment, & Rating System. STARS – A Program of AASHE Reports. Web. Retrieved from: https://reports.aashe.org/institutions/oregon-state-university-or/report/2018-01-31/.
- Barr, Stewart. (2003). Strategies for sustainability: citizens and responsible environmental behavior. Area - Royal Geographical Society, 35(3). DOI: doi.org/10.1111/1475-4762.00172.
- Blackman, Allen, and Jorge Rivera. (2011). Producer-Level Benefits of Sustainability Certification. Conservation Biology, 25(6). DOI: 10.1111/j.1523-1739.2011.01774. x.
- Blok, V., R. Wesselink, O. Studynka, and R. Kemp. (2015). Encouraging sustainability in the workplace: a survey on the pro-environmental behavior of university employees. *Journal* of Cleaner Production, 106(1), pp. 55-67. DOI: 10.1016/j.jclepro.2014.07.063.
- Bridgestock, Laura. (2012). Green Universities. *Top Universities*. Web. Retrieved from: https://www.topuniversities.com/student-info/choosing-university/green-universities.
- College of Earth, Ocean, & Atmospheric Sciences (CEOAS). (2019). About CEOAS. Oregon State University. Web. Retrieved from: https://ceoas.oregonstate.edu/about/.
- Environmental Health and Safety (EH&S). (2019). Oregon State University. Web. Retrieved from: https://ehs.oregonstate.edu/.

- **Eilperin, J.** (2010). Environmental certification becoming increasingly crowded and contested field. Washington Post, 3, May: A4.
- Exec. Order No. 13514. (2009). Federal Leadership in Environmental, Energy, and Economic Performance, 74(194), pp. 52115-52127. Retrieved from: https://www.federalregister.gov/documents/2009/10/08/E9-24518/federal-leadership-in-environmental-energy-and-economic-performance.
- Goldman, D., O. Ayalon, D. Baum, and B. Weiss. (2018). Influence of 'green school certification' on students' environmental literacy and adoption of sustainable practice by schools. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, 183(10), pp. 1300-1313. DOI:

10.1016/j.jclepro.2018.02.176.

- The International Organization for Standardization (ISO). (2019). About Us. ISO. Web. Retrieved from: https://www.iso.org/about-us.html.
- Loverock, Deanne. (2012). Pro-environmental Behaviors in the Workplace: Driving Social Change. *Community Research Connections – Sustainable Community Development*. Web. Retrieved from: https://www.crcresearch.org/community-research-connections/crccase-studies/pro-environmental-behaviours-workplace-driving-socia
- Maiteny, Paul T. (2010). Mind in the Gap: Summary of research exploring 'inner' influences on pro-sustainability learning and behavior. *Environmental Education Research*, 8(3), pp. 299-306. DOI: 10.1080/13504620220145447.
- Merriam-Webster. (2019). Laboratory Definition. *Merriam-Webster*. Web. Retrieved from: https://www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/laboratory.
- My Green Lab. (2019). San Diego, CA 92109. Web. Retrieved from: https://www.mygreenlab.org/.

Nelson, Noah. (2018). OSU not on track to meet 2025 carbon neutral goal. The Daily Barometer. Web. Retrieved from:

http://www.orangemedianetwork.com/daily_barometer/osu-not-on-track-to-meet-carbonneutral-goal/article_d5cbf10a-e092-11e8-8375-af37cb4bfa59.html.

- Newsham, G., J. Veitch, and Y. Hu. (2018). Effect of green building certification on organizational productivity measurements. Building Research & Information, 46(7), pp. 755-766. DOI: 10.1080/09613218.2017.1358032.
- **Oregon State University (OSU) Research Office.** (2019). About OSU Research and the Research office. *Oregon State University*. Web. Retrieved from:

https://research.oregonstate.edu/about-osu-research-and-research-office.

Oregon State University (OSU) Sustainability Office. (2017). Green Office Certification. Oregon State Finance and Administration, Corvallis, OR 97331. Web. Retrieved from: https://fa.oregonstate.edu/sustainability/planning-policy-assessment/green-officecertification.

Pacific Gas and Electric Company (PG&E). (2011). *California Energy Commission*. Web. Retrieved from:

https://www.pge.com/includes/docs/pdfs/mybusiness/energysavingsrebates/incentivesbyi ndustry/Labs_BestPractices.pdf.

Second Nature. (2007). *The Presidents' Climate Leadership Commitments*. Second Nature, Boston, MA 02108. Web. Retrieved from: https://secondnature.org/signatoryhandbook/the-commitments/.

- Smyth, D., A. Fredeen, and A. Booth. (2010). Reducing solid waste in higher education: The first step towards 'greening' a university campus. *Resources, Conservation, and Recycling*. 54(11), pp. 1007-1016. DOI: 10.1016/j.resconrec.2010.02.008.
- United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change (UNFCCC), 2019. What is the Paris Agreement? *United Nations Climate Change*. Retrieved from:

https://unfccc.int/process-and-meetings/the-paris-agreement/what-is-the-paris-agreement.

United States Environmental Protection Agency (EPA), 2017. Transportation. Sources of

Greenhouse Gas Emissions. Web. Retrieved from:

https://www.epa.gov/ghgemissions/sources-greenhouse-gas-emissions.

- University of Colorado Boulder. (2019). CU Green Labs Program. Environmental Center Greening CU. Web. Retrieved from: https://www.colorado.edu/ecenter/greenlabs.
- University of Washington. (2015). Green Laboratory Program. UW Sustainability. Web. Retrieved from: https://green.uw.edu/green-laboratory.
- University of Washington. (2019). Certified Green Laboratories Who is Certified and Where? UW Sustainability. Web. Retrieved from: https://green.uw.edu/green-laboratory/certifiedlaboratories.
- Urbina, Mauricio A., Andrew J. R. Watts, and Erin E. Reardon. (2015). Labs should cut plastic waste, too. *Nature*. 528(479). DOI: 10.1038/528479c.

Villanova University. (2015). Green Lab Certification. Villanova University Sustainability. Web. Retrieved from:

https://www1.villanova.edu/villanova/sustainability/AcademicsandResearchSustainability/GreenLab.html.

- Woolliams, J., M. Lloyd, and J. Spengler. (2005). The case for sustainable laboratories: first steps at Harvard University. *International Journal of Sustainability in Higher Education*, 6(4), pp. 363-382. DOI: 10.1108/14676370510623856.
- Wright, H., J. Ironside, and D. Gwynn-Jones. (2008). The current state of sustainability in bioscience laboratories. *International Journal of Sustainability in Higher Education*, 9(3), pp. 282-294. DOI: 10.1108/14676370810885899.
- Yale University. (2018). Green Laboratories Certification. Yale Environmental Health & Safety.Web. Retrieved from: https://ehs.yale.edu/green-lab-certification.
- Yu, Ting-Hua, Huan-Yu Shiu, Mengshan Lee, Pei-Te Chiueh, & Chia-Hung Hou. (2016). Life cycle assessment of environmental impacts and energy demand for capacitive deionization technology. *Desalination*, 399(1), pp. 53-60. DOI: 10.1016/j.desal.2016.08.007.
- Zen, I.S., D. Suramaniam, H. Sulaiman, A. Saleh, W. Omar, and M.R. Salim. (2016). Institutionalize waste minimization governance towards campus sustainability: A case study of Green Office initiatives in Universiti Teknologi Malaysia. Journal of Cleaner Production, 135, pp. 1407-1422. DOI: 10.1016/j.jclepro.2016.07.053.
- Zhao, Dong-Xue, Bao-Jie He, and Fan-Qin Meng. (2015). The green school project: A means of speeding up sustainable development? Geoforum, 65, pp. 310-313. DOI: 10.1016/j.geoforum.2015.08.012.